The Relationship between Exercise and Depression in First Year College Students

Melissa Santander

Queens University of Charlotte

2015

Abstract

In 2013, 31.8% of undergraduate college students were so depressed that they found it hard to function. College health centers are finding an increased usage of the counseling services. First year undergraduate students have high levels of depression, because of the increased stress with the transition to college. Could increasing exercise have an inverse effect on depression in the first-year college-aged student? First-year college students in a small university in the southeastern United States participated in a health survey. They were surveyed on their frequency, length of time and level of exercise; in another question they were asked "have you ever felt so depressed that it was difficult to function?" Sample size was 167 students (40% of the first year class). Using their answers about exercise for the independent variable and their answer about depression for the dependent variable, a multiple regression analysis was completed. There was no correlation between the frequency, length of time and level of exercise and their level of depression. Exercise is an effective treatment for depression, and the effects are lasting, not only for the post exercise period. Also, exercise improves overall health and well-being. Further research needs to be done to evaluate the relationship of exercise and depression. Students could be referred to a treatment group from the counseling center and random volunteers could also participate in a six-month exercise intervention program. Their pre and post-intervention depression levels would be evaluated for an inverse relationship of exercise and depression.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION
Introduction4
Theoretical Framework
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE
Review of Literature
Depression in Traditional Undergraduate Students
Exercise and Depression8
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURE
Methodology and procedure
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS
Results
Demographics12
Analysis
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION
Limitations
Discussion15
Sample Demographics Table14
Acknowledgments
Appendix A: IRB Approval

The Relationship between Exercise and Depression in First Year College Students

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Depression during the college years has been well documented. According to the American College Health Association (ACHA) national survey of college students (2013), 31.8% of undergraduate students during the previous year were so depressed they found it hard to function. A total of 59.6% of surveyed undergraduate, college students "felt very sad" within the last year and during the previous year 83.7% of students "felt overwhelmed by all they had to do" (American College Health Association [ACHA], 2013). The first year of traditional undergraduate education has the highest rate of depression in the college-aged population.

Depression is one of the top impediments to academic success. Depression is a risk factor of suicide. According to the CDC (2012), suicide is the third leading cause of death in the fifteen to twenty-four year old age group.

While these statistics are alarming there is hope. The standard of care for depression is antidepressants and psychotherapy in combination. This combined approach has been found to be effective in most depression cases. The medications have side effects, which are offensive to the patient causing the patient to stop the medication (Eyre, Papps, & Baune, 2013; Nahas & Sheikh, 2011). Seeking counseling at the university health center can also be difficult for students; some students feel there is a stigma in being seen in the university counseling center (Yorgason, Linville, & Zitzman, 2008). Medications and psychotherapy may be beneficial, but that might be only part of the solution.

Exercise has been shown to be beneficial in the treatment of depression. Could increasing exercise or physical activity levels have a preventative effect on depression?

College health nurses are often the first contact a student has in the treatment of their depression. At the university health center, one of the most important jobs of the nurse is to recognize and facilitate treatment of depression and anxiety. Nurses who are equipped with multiple, varied treatment options will be successful in helping the student deal with their psychological distress. Thus, better understanding of the relationship between exercise and depression is paramount for assembling a holistic approach for students presenting with depression.

Theoretical Framework

Self-Determination Theory was selected as the theoretical framework supporting this study. The theory addresses motivation; what motivates and maintains change in behavior. Self-Determination Theory looks at personal motivation or internal motivation. Three factors autonomy, competence, and relatedness, will maintain positive behavior change. Individuals strive for a sense of wellbeing, but the presence of these three factors is important in maintaining this sense of wellbeing. External rewards can influence positive behavior change, but cannot maintain that behavior. Internal motivation is necessary to maintain behavior change (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Springer, Lamborn, and Pollard (2013) showed that maintenance of physical activity over time was influenced by the intrinsic factors of competence, autonomy, and relatedness. This study showed that group support (relatedness), competence, and the ability to control when and what exercise was performed, increased the ability of participants to maintain physical activity. The feeling of competence and seeing themselves as physically active increase adherence to the physical activity. "Health and life mastery" increased maintenance of physical activity (Springer, Lamborn, & Pollard, 2013, p.290). Another study looked at maintenance of physical

activity during the transition from high school to college, it found that only intrinsic motivation was beneficial in the maintenance of physical activity during this transition (Ullrich-French, Cox, & Bumpus, 2012).

The idea of autonomy is important in the college-aged student. A study of happiness in college students found that having control over one's life and behaviors added to their feelings of well-being and happiness, although having negative thoughts about oneself can mediate these feelings of well-being. The opposite is true that having happy thoughts without autonomy does not lead to happiness and a sense of well-being. A sense of control seems to be a key component to happiness (O'Donnell, Chang, & Miller, 2013). The research shows intrinsic motivation is necessary to maintain a positive change; the behavior needs to bring a sense of well-being, competence, and control (O'Donnell, Chang, & Miller, 2013).

Self- Determination Theory may explain why some students come to college with the motivation to be physically active. This theory helps the university staff plan ways to implement exercise programs for the psychological and physical well-being of the students. When implementing an exercise program for physical and psychological health of students, it would be important that the activity brought pleasure to the students, so they would be motivated to continue the exercise program. Exercise programs need to be tailored to the students' level of fitness, so they could feel competent. Also the student should have input as to the activities that would be involved in the program, so they could feel a sense of control over their own well-being.

CHAPTER II

Review of Literature

A search of EbscoHost using the keywords, depression and exercise and college-aged students revealed 28,384 articles. Based on the date of publication, quality of research and age specific data, eighteen articles were selected for this literature review.

Depression in Traditional Undergraduate Students

Based on the ACHA national survey of college students (2013), 10.7% of college students had been diagnosed or treated by a professional for depression in the last year; in the last year, 46.5% of students felt that things were hopeless, and 60.5% felt very sad. According to the ACHA (2013) survey, depression was one of the top impediments to academic success. There are no ethno-racial differences in levels of depression in undergraduate college students (Herman et al., 2011). Development of depression in college is multifactorial, including family history, financial constraints, roommate/friend issues, and academic concerns (Aselton, 2012)

College life and in particular the first year of college seems to be fraught with these stressors that can lead to depression and suicidal ideations. ACHA listed depression as an impediment to academic success (American College Health Association, 2012). First year undergraduate students have high levels of depression, because of the increased stress with the transition to college. First year students have new financial stress, living on their own for the first time, and not being with their support system. The freshman year has been shown to be stressful, and with novice coping mechanisms, the first year students are susceptible to depression (Brandy, 2011). A study looking at counseling center utilization for second semester, first-year college students at two commuter colleges in a large metropolitan area in the northeast,

showed that 74% of these first-year students were in moderate psychological distress (Rosenthal & Wilson, 2008).

College-aged students can enter college with mental health issues and some students have mental health issues arise while they are in college (Douce & Keeling, 2014). Studies have shown that college-aged students' "emotional health has been declining over time" (Eagan, et al., 2014). Students with decreased mental health will often access care through the university health center. Universities have seen an increase in usage of counseling services and students are finding they have to wait to receive care (Eagan, et al, 2014). Students have less social connectedness and decreased social connectedness is related to increased depression (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009). One of the factors affecting social connectedness is decreased time socializing with peers and increased time on social media websites (Eagan, et al, 2014).

Exercise and Depression

The American Heart Association (2013) recommends that adults should engage in 30 minutes of moderate intensity, aerobic, physical activity five or more times per week or vigorous intensity, physical activity for 25 minutes three or more times per week for health benefits.

According to the ACHA national survey (2013), 48.8% of college students are getting their recommended amount of physical activity for optimum health, this includes college athletes.

College students do see exercise as a way to cope with the stress of college (Aselton, 2012).

Studies have shown that if the good habit of exercise is started in the college years it is likely to continue on after college (Kozak, Nguyen, Yanos, & Fought, 2013).

Physical activity has long been shown to increase positive feelings; endorphins are released, and there is a euphoric feeling that lasts after the physical activity is completed.

Runners refer to this as a "runners high". While exercise can promote positive feelings, is it an

effect treatment for depression? Many studies have examined exercise as an effective treatment for depression in conjunction with other prescribed therapies. Exercise is an effective treatment for depression, and the effects are lasting, not only for the post exercise period. Also, exercise improves overall health and well-being (Blake, Mo, Malik, & Thomas, 2009; Blake, 2012; Callaghan, Khalil, Morres, & Carter, 2011; Carta et al., 2008).

Some of the studies reviewed incorporating group exercise. These studies questioned if the decrease in depression in these studies was solely the exercise or the relatedness of the participants. Social interaction may have been related to the positive changes in depressive symptoms (Callaghan et al., 2011; Searle et al., 2011). The inter-relatedness of the group physical activity helped with starting to exercise and maintaining exercise over time (Springer et al., 2013). Increase in social isolation contributed to depressive symptoms in college-aged population. Student athletes, who had more physical activity and increased social support through their team interactions had lower levels of depression (Armstrong & Oomen-Early, 2009).

Participants in a randomized controlled trial studying the effectiveness of exercise on depression, were asked their opinions (Searle, et al, 2011). Most of the participants in this qualitative study stated that exercise was an effective therapy for depression, and it allowed for a level of control by the patient. The subjects felt they were helping to manage their depressive symptoms. These same participants also noted the other many benefits of exercise, such as improving sleep, fitness, body image, and sense of well-being.

Study authors have also examined the college-aged population; depression, suicide, and exercise. The research has demonstrated that increased exercise has an inverse effect on depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation (Dinger, Brittain, & Hutchinson, 2014; Elliot,

Kennedy, Morgan, Anderson, & Morris, 2012; Taliaferro, Rienzo, Pigg, Miller, & Dodd, 2009). The studies done with undergraduate college students echo the findings of other studies done with different age groups. Studies that were focused on undergraduate populations also highlight the other benefits of physical activity such as improving health and well-being. One aspect of physical activity and depression brought forth in the undergraduate population is the level of depression and exercise. Increased depression limited the drive to exercise thus limited the effectiveness of the exercise intervention. The motivation to exercise is missing at higher levels of depression (Leventhal, 2012).

The review of the literature revealed that the college-aged population is experiencing higher levels of depression and that exercise is an effective treatment for depression, either alone or as an adjunctive therapy, depending on the level of depression. Among the many benefits from exercise, decreased depression, increased sense of well-being, and increased coping ability, offer an option to college-aged students suffering from the stressors of college life. Healthy Campus 2020 set forth objectives for students based on the government initiative Healthy People 2020. One of the overarching goals of the initiative is "Promote quality of life, healthy development, and positive health behaviors" (American College Health Association, 2012). Based on this goal from Healthy campus 2020, it would be important to examine the relationship between depression and exercise in the first year college student.

CHAPTER III

Methodology and Procedure

Institutional Review Board approval from Queens University of Charlotte was granted in spring 2013 for the initial National College Health Assessment (NCHA) survey administration.

The spring, 2013 survey was administered to the entire undergraduate student body. For this

retrospective study, an additional Institutional Review Board exempt application was completed and approved by Queens University of Charlotte (Appendix A).

Using the data gathered from the initial survey, the hypothesis for the present study was that level of exercise has an inverse relationship to depression in the first year college student. If the hypothesis is supported, then there is an assumption that exercise has a prophylactic effect on depressive symptoms.

The ACHA –National College Health Assessment (NCHA) is a well-respected, nationally recognized health survey that collects information on health, behaviors and perceptions of the college-aged students. The survey was developed in 1998 and piloted in spring of 1998 and fall and spring semesters of 1999. The NCHA was first administered to a wide range of schools (35 postsecondary institutions) in spring of 2000. The reliability and validity of the survey was established by comparing the NCHA with The National College Health Risk Behavior Survey 1995 (CDC), The Harvard School of Public Health 1999 College Alcohol Study, The United States Department of Justice National College Women Sexual Victimization Study 2000 and the pilot ACHA-NCHA in 1998 and 1999. The NCHA survey was found to be reliable and valid in representing the college-aged student (ACHA-NCHA, 2014).

The NCHA data from a small liberal arts university in the southeastern United States was used to examine the relationship between exercise and level of depression in first-year college-aged students. The survey asks self- reported length of time, frequency and level of exercise. Length of time and levels of exercise are moderate-intensity for 30 minutes, vigorous-intensity for 20 minutes and strength training. Students indicate how many days a week they participate in each of these activities. The survey examines the self-reported depression in certain increments of time. The question for depression asks: Have you ever felt so depressed

that it was difficult to function? The answer choices are: no never; no, not in the last twelve months; yes, in the last two weeks; yes, in the last thirty days and yes, in the last twelve months (ACHA-NCHA, 2011).

A convenience sample of traditional undergraduate students in their first year of college was used for this study. The sample was racially diverse and included men, women and transgender students. Students received a letter via email explaining the NCHA survey and inviting them to participate in the health survey. The NCHA survey is a confidential, webbased survey, which can be accessed by the students from their email using a protected password. By accessing the survey via the secure website, students are communicating consent to participate in the survey. An ID number was assigned to each email so the secure internet server could manage the survey input. To ensure confidentiality, ID numbers and emails are destroyed before data were shared with the university.

The survey data were converted into an excel spread sheet and using the Analysis

Toolpak a multiple regression analysis of the data was performed to identify a correlation

between exercise and depression in first-year, traditional college-aged students. Participants

with null values for either exercise questions or depression question were eliminated from

analysis. Using exercise frequency, length of time and level as the independent variables and
self-reported depression as the dependent variables, a multiple regression was used to analyze the
data.

CHAPTER IV

Results

Demographics

Of the 171 first–year undergraduate students who participated in the survey, 167 students were included in the analysis, four students were excluded for not answering the questions on exercise or depression. Of the 167 first-year students ranging in age from 18 to 22, all were full-time students. 142 students lived in on campus housing, 24 students lived at home with parents or guardians and 1 student lived in other off-campus housing. 130 students were female, 34 students were male, one student was transgender and 2 students did not indicate gender. When asked how the students described themselves, they could choose more than one ethnoracial group. 108 identified as white; 34 identified as black; 24 identified as hispanic or Latino/a; 6 identified as Asian or Pacific Islander; 9 identified as American Indian, Alaskan native, or Hawaiian; 9 identified as biracial or multiracial; and 3 identified as other.

Analysis

Respondents reported an average of 3.86 days of moderate exercise, 4.44 days of vigorous exercise and 2.58 days of weight lifting. 28% of students are getting the American Heart Association recommended amount of moderate exercise. 49% of students are getting the AHA recommended amount of vigorus exercise. Of the first-year students included in our sample 118 denied any depressive symptoms for the last year and 49 respondents had some level of depression within the past year.

Excel Analysis Toolpak was used to perform a multiple regression anlysis on the data supplied for the questions on exercise and depression. For students participating in moderate activity for 30 minutes the correlation with depression was -0.0787. For students participating in vigorous activity for 20 minutes the correlation with depression was -0.1059. For students participating in weight lifting the correlation with depression was 0.0033. There was no correlation between exercise and depression in this study.

Table 1. Sample Demographics

	Sample Demographics			
N=167		n	% of sample	
Full-time		167	100%	
Age				
	18	94	56%	
	19	67	40%	
	20	2	0.01%	
	21	1	0.005%	
	22	1	0.005%	
	null	2	0.01%	
Gend	er			
	Female	130	77%	
	Male	34	0.20%	
	Transgender	1	0.005%	
	Null	2	0.01%	
Race				
	White	108	64%	
	Black	34	20%	
	Hispanic or Latino/a	24	14%	
	Asian or Pacific Islander	6	0.04%	
	American Indian, Alaskan, Hawaiian	9	0.05%	
	Biracial or multiracial	9	0.05%	
	Other	3	0.018%	

CHAPTER V

Limitations

There are several limitations of this study. First the survey questioned self-reported level and frequency of exercise and level of depression. This could have resulted in biased reporting of data. Second, this study used a convenience sample of first-year undergraduate students, who for the most part did not suffer from depression (n=118, no depression). These students, on average, participated in some form of exercise from 2-5 days a week. Third, the data were only analyzed for first-year students. If the entire data set which included first-year through upper classman was used the results may have been different.

Discussion

Results of this study did not show a relationship between level and frequency of exercise and depression. Despite the body of evidence that shows exercise helps improve depressive symptoms, these data did not show a correlation between exercise and depression.

Other studies have shown that exercise can decrease depression. Further reasearch needs to be done incorporating exercise as an adjunct therapy for depression. Students could be recommended to the study from the counseling center and students could also volunteer to participate. Students would participate in an exercise intervention for 6 months. Students would complete pre- and post-intervention surveys, which would ask questions about depressive symptoms. This data would be analyzed for an inverse relationship between exercise and depression. Following this study, an exercise program could be developed for incoming first-year students as a tool for coping with the transition to college.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Debra Miles for her support throughout this capstone project. She has been a great source of encouragement and expertise. Dr. Miles and the other nursing faculty have always supported my efforts to continue my education, even when I thought the road was too long and hard.

I would like to thank Tracy Gunn for her expertise in statistics. Ms. Gunn met with me and helped me navigate the anlysis of the research data. She made Excel seem easy and enjoyable.

Lastly, I would like to thank Jill Perry for her constant support and encouragment over my whole MSN journey. I could not have asked for a better boss or friend throughout the past 3 years. Jill has given me the time and space to accomplish my studies and my research. She had faith in me even when I did not, which sustained me on my MSN journey.

Appendix A. IRB approval



November 13, 2014

Melissa Santander Presbyterian School of Nursing

RESEARCH PROTOCOL APPROVAL, IRB FILE # 11-14-PSON-0112

The Institutional Review Board reviewed your research request:

The relationship between exercise and depression in first year college students

Your protocol (11-12-14); Informed consent form, Focus group questions, Questionnaire; and Recruitment materials were approved for use within the facilities of Queens University of Charlotte. The Board determined your study poses minimal risk to subjects and meets the criteria for an exempt application. If you plan to use the protocol outside of Queens University of Charlotte, you may need to submit it to the IRB at that institution for approval.

This approval expires one year minus one day from date above. Before your study expires, you must submit a notice of completion or a request for extension. You are required to report any changes to the research study to the IRB for approval prior to implementation. This form can be found on the IRB site on MyQueens and should be sent to irb@queens.edu.

If we can be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact us. Please use the IRB file number when referencing your case.

Sincerely,

Laree Schoolmeesters

Laree Schoolmeesters, PhD, RN, CNL Chair, IRB

References

- American College Health Association. (2012). *Healthy campus 2020*. Retrieved from http://www.acha.org/HealthyCampus/index.cfm
- American College Health Association. (2013). NCHA Spring 2013. Retrieved from http://www.acha-ncha.org/docs/ACHA-NCHA-
 II_UNDERGRAD_ReferenceGroup_ExecutiveSummary_Spring2013.pdf
- American College Health Association National College Health Assessment (2014).

 Generalizability, reliability and validity analysis. Retrieved from
 http://www.acha-ncha.org/grvanalysis.html
- American College Health Association National College Health Assessment (2011). Sample survey. Retrieved from http://www.acha-ncha.org/sample_survey.html
- American heart association recommendations for physical activity in adults. (2013). Retrieved from http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/GettingHealthy/PhysicalActivity/American-Heart-Association-Recommendations-for-Physical-Activity-in-Adults_UCM_307976_Article.jsp
- Armstrong, S., & Oomen-Early, J. (2009). Social connectedness, self-esteem, and depression symptomatology among collegiate athletes versus nonathletes. *Journal of American College Health*, 57(5), 521-526.
- Aselton, P. (2012). Sources of stress and coping in american college students who have been diagnosed with depression. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 25, 119-123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6171.2012.00341.x
- Blake, H. (2012). Physical activity and exercise in the treatment of depression. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *3*(106). http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00106

- Blake, H., Mo, P., Malik, S., & Thomas, S. (2009). How effective are physical activity interventions for alleviating depressive symptoms in older people? A systematic review. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 23, 873-887. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0269215509337449
- Brandy, J. M. (2011). *Depression in freshman college students* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://ecommons.luc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1176&context=luc_diss
- Callaghan, P., Khalil, E., Morres, I., & Carter, T. (2011). Pragmatic randomised controlled trial of preferred intensity exercise in women living with depression. *BMC Public Health*, *11*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-465
- Carta, M. G., Hardoy, M. C., Pilu, A., Sorba, M., Floris, A. L., Mannu, F. A., ... Salvi, M. (2008). Improving physical quality of life with group physical activity in the adjunctive treatment of major depressive disorder. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health*, *4*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1745-0179-4-1
- Centers for Disease Control. (2012). *Suicide facts at a glance*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/ViolencePrevention/pdf/Suicide_DataSheet-a.pdf
- Dinger, M. K., Brittain, D. R., & Hutchinson, S. R. (2014, January). Associations between physical activity and health-related factors in a national sample of college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 62(1), 67-74.
- Douce, L. A., & Keeling, R. P. (2014). A strategic primer on college student mental health.

 Washington: American Council on Education.
- Eagen, K., Stolzenburg, E. B., Ramirez, J. J., Aragon, M. C., Suchard, M. R., & Hurtado, S. (2014). *The american freshman: National norms fall 2014*. Los Angeles: Higher Education Research Institute University of California.

- Elliot, C. A., Kennedy, C., Morgan, G., Anderson, S. K., & Morris, D. (2012). Undergraduate physical activity and depressive symptoms: A national study. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, *36*, 230-241. http://dx.doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.36.2.8
- Eyre, H. A., Papps, E., & Baune, B. T. (2013). Treating depression and depression-like behavior with physical activity: An immune perspective. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *4*(3), 1-27. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00003
- Herman, S., Archambeau, O., Deliramich, A. N., Kim, B. S., Chiu, P. H., & Frueh, C. (2011).

 Depressive symptoms and mental health treatment in an ethnoracially diverse college student sample. *Journal of American College Health*, 59, 715-720.
- Kozak, A. T., Nguyen, C., Yanos, B. R., & Fought, A. (2013, July). Persuading students to exercise: What is the best way to frame messages for normal-weight versus overweight/obese university students? *Journal of American College Health*, 61, 264-273.
- Leventhal, A. M. (2012). Relations between anhedonia and physical activity. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, *36*, 860-872. http://dx.doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.36.6.12
- Nahas, R., & Sheikh, O. (2011). Complementary and alternative medicine for the treatment of major depressive disorder. *Canadian Family Physician*, *57*, 659 663. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3114664/
- O'Donnell, S. L., Chang, K. B., & Miller, K. S. (2013). Relations among autonomy, attribution style, and happiness in college students. *College Student Journal*, *47*, 228-234. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.queens.edu:2400/ehost/detail?sid=39e57a9e-ef3c-4e70-8eda-9c023db7cd65%40sessionmgr113&vid=1&hid=101&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#db=psyh&AN=2013-10664-024

- Rosenthal, B., & Wilson, W. C. (2008, July/August). Mental health services: Use and disparity among diverse college students. *Journal of American College Health*, *57*(1), 61-67.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivator, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, *55*, 68-78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037//0003-066X.55.1.68
- Searle, A., Calnan, M., Lewis, G., Campbell, J., Taylor, A., & Turner, K. (2011). Patients' views of physical activity as treatment for depression: A qualitative study. *British Journal of General Practice*, e149-e156. http://dx.doi.org/10.3399/bjgp11X567054
- Springer, J. B., Lamborn, S. D., & Pollard, D. M. (2013). Maintaining physical activity over time: The importance of basic psychological need satisfaction in developing the physically active self. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 27, 284-293. http://dx.doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.110211-QUAL-62
- Taliaferro, L. A., Rienzo, B. A., Pigg, R. M., Miller, M. D., & Dodd, V. J. (2009, January/February). Associations between physical activity and reduced rates of hopelessness, depression, and suicidal behavior among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 57, 427-435.
- Ullrich-French, S., Cox, A. E., & Bumpus, M. F. (2012). Physical activity motivation and behavior across the transition to university. *Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology*, 2, 90-101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0030632
- Yorgason, J. B., Linville, D., & Zitzman, B. (2008). Mental health among college students: Do those who need services know about and use them? *Journal of American College Health*, 57, 173-181.